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Mainland South Heritage
Society
Capt. William Spry Library
Sat., Apr. 24, 1-4 pm: Genealogy Open
House. Local researchers will guide
you in your quest to learn more about
your ancestors through online and
library resources.
Iris Shea, 479-3505 or
ishea@eastlink.ca .

NS Archaeology Society
Fourth Tuesday of month, NS
Museum at 7:30 pm.
March 23: Charles Burke, “Fort
Lawrence and Beaubassin National
Historic Sites.”
April 27: Helen Kristmanson , Dir.
Aboriginal Affairs and Archaeology,
PEI, TBA.
May 25: Katie Cottreau-Robbins and
Rob Ferguson, “Cultural Landscape of
Grand-Pré.”

NS Built Heritage
Conference, Annapolis
Royal
June 3- 4, 9:30-5 pm, Roy. Cdn.
Legion, 66 Victoria St. Speakers
include historians, government and
private heritage workers. Registration
open to the public.
June 2, 9:30 pm: Graveyard tour by
candlelight, $5 for registrants.
June 4, 7-9 pm: Wine and Azaleas,
tour the Historic Gardens with music,
wine and nibbles, $20 pre-booked, $15
for registrants, $25 at the gate. Call
532-7018 to reserve.
Info Ryan Scranton,
historic@ns.aliantzinc.ca

Planter Conference 250th
Anniversary, Wolfville
June 17, 7 pm: Esther Clark Wright
keynote address by Gwen Davies,
Prof. Emeritus, UNB
June 18-19, 9:30-4:30 pm: papers
Sun., June 20, 10-2 pm: tours in the
Wolfville-Grand Pré area.
http://libguides.acadiau.ca/Planter/

Rockingham Heritage
Society
April 14, 7:30 pm: Wayne Ingalls,

“The Railway Comes to
Rockingham”. St. Peter’s Anglican
Church, Birch Cove.

Royal NS Historical
Society
Mar. 17: Emily Burton, “Rum and
Regulation in Nova Scotia, 1780-
1830.”
Apr. 21: Bonnie Huskins, “Shelburne
Loyalists” (annual dinner meeting).
May 19: TBA
All talks begin at 7:30 pm at the
Public Archives of Nova Scotia, with
the exception of the April dinner
meeting, the location of which is
TBA.

Village historique acadien
First Wednes. of month, 7:30-9:30 pm:
Soirée de Musique / Kitchen Party,
Sylvesters Club, Centre de Pombcoup,
W. Pubnico. Music by local artists
with singsong of Acadian Songs. Tea,
coffee or juice, $5. For information
contact 902-762-3380
March 17, 7 pm: “Our history in
stories,” stories written by Laurent
d’Entremont and others, Musée des
Acadiens, W. Pubnico, $3.
March 18, 1:30-3 pm: Francophonie.
Days, Musée des Acadiens, W.
Pubnico. Craft demonstration and
sale.
Apr. 22, 10-3 pm: Celebrate Earth
Day, Musée des Acadiens, W.
Pubnico. Guest speaker, info., photos
and gardening in the Acadian Garden.
Tea & coffee.
musee.acadien@ns.sympatico.ca,

www.museeacadien.ca, 762-3380.

Wolfville Historical
Society
Wolfville Fire Hall
March 17, 2 pm: Charles Curry and
Robert Palmeter, “Caring for the
Grand Pré Dykes and Dykelands.”
May 19, 2 pm: Dr. A.J.B. Johnston,
“Endgame 1758, Louisbourg’s Last
Decade.”
http://wolfvillehs.ednet.ns.ca.

Programs Sponsored by Other Societies

L’Acadie de Chezzetcook
79 Hill Rd., W. Chezzetcook
April 18, noon: Spring Event, home
cooked meal, bake table, games, out-
door oven in operation, refreshed dis-
plays at museum.

Cape Sable Historical
Society
June 5: “Planters Tea” and fashion
show, Barrington Lions Hall. Tickets
from Society members or from barmu-
seumcomplex@eastlink.ca and 637-2185.

Cole Harbour Rural
Heritage Society
471 Poplar Drive, Dartmouth
Sat., April 17, 5:30 for 6:30 pm: 5th
Annual Dinner & Auction,
Brightwood Golf Club, $40 in
advance.
Sun. May 9, 1-4 pm: Mother’s Day
Tea, Adult $8, Child $5, no reserva-
tions.
coleharbourfarmmuseum.ca, 434-0222

Industrial Heritage of NS
Meets first Mon. of month at
Maritime Museum at 7:30 pm.
March 1: Joan Dawson.,”19th century
Roads”. Author of Nova Scotia’s Lost
Highways; the early roads that shaped the
Province, Joan will focus on the social
developments of roads and communi-
ties in the early part of the 19th
century.
April 5: Carl Yates, General Manager
of Halifax Water Commission,
“Development of the Halifax Water
Supply.”
May 3: Debra McNabb, Head of the
Museum of Industry in Stellarton,
“The Museum of Industry at 15:
Reflections on Nova Scotia’s provin-
cial industrial museum.”

erratum
The credits for the photos of
Avenue B were inadvertently
reversed in the
article on Imperoyal Village,
p.26-27, Vol. 34, No. 4.
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Planter Nova Scotia Celebrates in 2010: Its 250th
Anniversary by Julian Gwyn

This year marks the 250th
anniversary of the beginning of
the New England exodus to Nova
Scotia. Known now as the Planters
- a word for settler, first used for
the sixteenth-century English
plantations in Ireland - they estab-
lished fourteen townships in
Nova Scotia, which then included
what later became New
Brunswick. Coming principally
from eastern Connecticut, south-
ern Rhode Island and eastern
Massachusetts, they settled both
on Nova Scotia’s south shore, up
the St John River valley, the
Chignecto peninsula, the
Annapolis Valley and Minas
Basin. Fishermen settled in places
like Chester, Liverpool, Barrington
and Yarmouth, while farmers set-
tled the Acadian lands elsewhere.
About 2,000 families were
involved. Land scarcity was the
principal cause, free land the
attraction, while the defeat of
French power in North America,
achieved in 1758/60, explains the
timing.

To help mark the celebrations,
the Kings-Hants Heritage
Connection commissioned the
research and writing of four short
books, one each for the townships
of Newport, Falmouth, Horton
and Cornwallis. For reasons best
known to themselves, municipal
leaders in Windsor chose not to
participate in this imaginative
undertaking. Based on new
research employing documents
long in the possession especially
of Nova Scotia’s provincial
archives and the Acadia
University archives, the books
emphasize the social, economic,
religious and political history of
the region to 1815.

In addition, as part of the year-
long celebrations, Planter Studies
Centre at Acadia University will
be holding a major conference in
mid-June. The Chairman of the
conference planning committee
may be contacted by e-mail:

stephen.henderson@acadiau.ca .
In an act of econocide, those

responsible for deporting the
Acadians set fire to the houses,
barns and fences, except for some
in Falmouth Township. Acadian
livestock was sold to naval and
military contractors and slaugh-
tered. These decisions retarded
Nova Scotia’s economy develop-
ment by at least a generation, the
equivalent of suffering a devastat-
ing war. The New England
Planters spent much of their first
year in Nova Scotia building
anew, while their imported live-
stock survived largely on marsh-
land hay.

Since The Griffin readers are
principally interested in built-her-
itage, something should be said of
the ordinary Planter dwellings.
Their houses were first described
in a 1774 booklet written by two
visiting Yorkshiremen. Described
as square-built with brick
chimneys in the centre, they had
several sashed windows. The lay-
out of their houses was simple,
usually two rooms on the ground
floor, one for cooking and eating,
the second used as a sleeping
chamber. The loft, reached by a
ladder or narrow staircase, was
also used for sleeping. Houses
seemed always to contain a cellar.

The smallness of these typical
original houses should not sur-
prise us. It approximated the size
of houses many families had occu-
pied in New England, where one-
storey structures under 600 square
feet were the most common. The
houses, unless they were log-built,
were finished on the outside with
clapboard or shingles, the roofs
being planked before being shin-
gled. Inside, the rooms were
wainscotted.

The simplicity of the houses,
some at first hardly more than
shacks, and the sparse furnishings
they contained, was typical for all

Planter families except those of
the élite. Sadly, not a single,
undisputed example of such sim-
ple dwellings has survived two
hundred and fifty years later. As
to the furnishings, examples from
houses of the élite 6 families alone
survive.

Joseph Howe’s newspaper, the
Novascotian, reported in 1827 the
remarks of a traveller who recent-
ly had toured through the agricul-
tural districts. He claimed never
to have seen “any peasantry who
paid so little attention to the neat-
ness and appearance of their
houses. Of the models he does
not complain so much, as of the
black and filthy hues in which
they are allowed to wither. True, a
well-painted cottage, fronted by a
flower garden or shrubbery, and
seen through a vista of umbra-
geous trees, occasionally gladdens
the sight. But it is an exception,
which stands broadly marked.”
Rather, “the ash-heap lies under
the very window— a tiny pond,
in which the ducks can waddle
and gutter makes dirty stepping
to the door. Old hats and coats
occupy a conspicuous place in the
sashes, and the walls and roof are
to the picturesque eye an object of
perfect disgust.” The traveller
contrasted this with the well
maintained appearance of the
houses of the habitants in Quebec,
the peasantry along the Erie canal
from Albany to Buffalo, in rural
England and along the Rhone val-
ley in southern France. However
unflattering the impression, the
unpainted and weathered houses
bespoke rural poverty which was
widespread. At the same time,
Moorsom reported that the
Acadians on the French shore
painted their cottages red while
Loyalist refugees generally pre-
ferred white.

Julian Gwyn, Historian, Retired
(U. of Ottawa) has moved to Berwick,
Nova Scotia..
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and industry do not always form
a perfect marriage; the Kelly
Building did blow down the day
before Nocturne, giving cause for
panic and a hasty re-resurrection.

To describe the destruction of
the Kelly Building as a terrible
loss does not overstate the case.
Philip Pacey, while President of
the Heritage Trust of Nova Scotia,
observed that the building “repre-
sented an important juncture in
Nova Scotia, when commercial
buildings changed from resem-
bling houses to looking like retail
stores.” It was among the first 150
buildings recommended for
Heritage registration in Halifax
and stood proudly as one of the
last remaining examples of the
adjoining shop and residence in
the downtown.

Shortly before demolition the
Kelly Building enjoyed a brief
new-life experience. It was inter-
est from Charley Young’s and
Sarah Haydon Roy’s alma mater,
NSCAD University, that offered
what would turn out to be a last
glimmer of hope. The Presidents
of NSCAD and Heritage Trust
worked diligently on an unsuc-
cessful proposal to rehabilitate the
Kelly and Macara-Barnstead
Buildings for student housing.
The rest is history. Charley Young,
in the project proposal for
Nocturne, described the Kelly
Building’s absence now “noted by
roofline residue on the former
adjoining Macara Building and
unfinished walls that are

encroached bon y a modern
characterless office tower.”

If the proverbial picture is
worth a thousand words then
surely it can be said that a suc-
cessful artwork speaks volumes.
Resurrection: The Kelly Building
was a very successful installation
artwork, not a simple snapshot of
what was or a token remembrance
of loss. For six hours Haligonians
were provided a means of seeing
through, walking through and
feeling the spirit of a missing cul-
tural marker. We were given a
rare opportunity to engage the

heritage issue outside the usual
venue of acrimonious debate. It is
sad that the subject matter of this
historic tableau is privation but
nonetheless, a message has been
delivered in an unusual, innova-
tive and strong voice: look at what
we’ve lost!

Wallace Brannen is an art appraiser
and consultant who writes about art
and related issues. He is an HTNS
member who recently retired from the
Board.

Top left, the Nocturne invitation; top right, the man lift installing the Kelly Building
drape; and directly above, the building re-created in fabric for Nocturne. (All photos
on this page, Charley Young.)

March 2010



September 2009 Page 17

Heritage for Sale – Award-winning church conversion
near Annapolis Royal
150 Old Trunk 8, Lequille
MLS®: 05107743 $289,900
Tradewinds Realty -
Annapolis Royal
Paula Leslie: 902-526-2462,
902-532-2010 (fax)
www.movetonovascotia.net/Lequille/
Nova_Scotia/Homes/05107743/Lequil
le/Agent/Listing_7813026.html

The former St. Alban’s Anglican
Church, a Registered Heritage
Property and 2007 Heritage Trust
Award winner, has been profes-
sionally rehabilitated and re-mod-
elled to create the best combina-
tion of old charm and modern
living. Tucked in among the trees
on a quiet road is a surprisingly
spacious home that is warm and
welcoming with rich original
woodwork and windows, a soar-
ing vaulted ceiling, skylights and
an ingenious use of space. The
owner/designer has paid special
attention to detail when choosing
the high quality fixtures and
materials that enhance the charac-
ter of the 1892 church. A luxuri-
ously appointed kitchen and
bathroom, and a master bedroom
loft with ensuite are just some of
the unexpected perks that will
surprise and delight you about
this beautiful home. Wired for
generator. High speed internet
available.

Top, the kitchen looks to the
living room; middle, the
master bedroom situated in
the loft with a view of the
vaulted ceiling; and below
the exterior of the former
St. Alban’s Anglican
Church.

cation, the Griffin, or an electronic
version. The savings realized from
‘going green’ would enable us to
provide a more interactive,
searchable format for the Griffin.

Members are invited to contact
me at any time (902-826-2087 or
pdelefes@eastlink.ca) to discuss
heritage matters.

Peter Delefes,
President

President: Continued from page 8







Save the Building, Somewhere by Paul Kellogg

Page 7March 2010

The following excerpt, written in
response to the debate about whether
or not to allow the demolition of a
Lunenburg outbuilding, speaks
equally well to heritage issues else-
where.

[…] Most of us care about heritage
in Mahone Bay and Lunenburg,
otherwise we probably wouldn’t
choose to live in this part of the
South Shore. With almost every
fire occurring in an old wooden
building, [fire] often [ensures] that
these wonderful structures, from
grand to modest, slowly disap-
pear along with the history
observed within. And you can
guarantee that for every one of
these we lose, there are ten if not a
hundred, of the new, factory-built
structures coming on a flatbed
trailer down the road in this direc-
tion.

I think some people…are miss-
ing two subtle but important
points. First, the “UNESCO” des-
ignation Lunenburg would hope
to keep and steadfastly preserve
includes not only historic homes,
but that (almost intangible) fasci-
nating saw-toothed pattern
of higgledy-piggledy modest
buildings that also comprised life
before the perfectly neat, militari-
ly straight rows of suburban sub-
division boxes. That irregularity
of structures, like old Quebec City
(another UNESCO Heritage Site),
separates itself from the pre-
dictable grid pattern of Toronto
and New York City.

It is too convenient to consider
one part of Cumberland (in the
area of the outbuilding in ques-
tion) “just a back lane”. Only a
short distance down the street is
the main entrance to the
Boscawen Inn; an historic house
(built by the Morash family) is
just to the east of this building;
and right across [the “lane”] are
several homes fronting on the
street and facing the two “out”
buildings mentioned. It is an easy
mistake to lump all buildings not
currently used as homes into a

single category of worthless “out”
buildings - including the privy or
workshop, the well designed and
built business structure, and the
hastily built, flimsy, ugly utility
shed.

This particular edifice housed
people, religious and fraternal
meetings along with several retail
businesses. It witnessed lives
being lived, tales of sorrow and
joy being shared with neighbours,
townsfolk spending some time
with each other and slowly
becoming part, even modestly, of
Lunenburg’s colourful history.
This is a living, breathing history
that is just as much a part of
Lunenburg’s important fabric as
the “grand” homes standing
proudly on the streetscape.

Because this building was
allowed to deteriorate (as several
other important homes presently
are) is no fault…of the current
owners who bought it fairly
recently. But we are all caretakers

of our town’s historic structures,
modest to grand, homely to beau-
tiful; we should not buy a proper-
ty unless we are dedicated to pre-
serving any and all old structures
(pre-1940 as defined) located
thereon. To repair and restore this
building is no more Disney-like or
fake, than building Bluenose II to
preserve its history, not to men-
tion the ship building trades that
continue and get handed down
generation to generation. And
who today would be prepared to
see the Bluenose sail away never
to return, no more to teach young
people how things were done and
lives lived yesterday, or to present
one less reason for strangers from
around the world, to visit
Lunenburg?

164 Cumberland today may
not be “architecturally stunning,”
but could be taken back (like the
handsome former cobbler shop
around the corner) with original
windows reproduced, ugly shed
dormers removed and interior
structural systems twinned or
rebuilt. Lunenburg has a duty to
see this happens on the site where
it has lived (not “rotted”) and if
[that is] not possible, then second-
arily to move and rebuild it to
give it continued life within the
Town.

Secondly, Lunenburgers, like
folks from every town, outport or
city the world over, should be
comfortable debating and dis-
agreeing with one another.…This
debate should be healthy,
thoughtful and never, ever per-
sonal. Ideas help us to grow; lay-
ering ideas point us to solutions
we may never have even dreamed
before, rising not just to, but
beyond any challenge. History
should have taught us all of
that...... unless we choose to turn
our backs on its lessons and val-
ues.

Paul and his wife Kathy have just
finished rehabilitating a 1760-70 cape
on a hill just outside Lunenburg in
First South.

What Future
for Stella Maris
Church?
The Ferguson’s Cove
Neighbourhood Association
hosted a ‘Public Conversation’
on January 21, 2010 to elicit
ideas for the future of this
mid-1800s church, situated at
the northeast corner of York
Redoubt. Designated a
municipal heritage building by
Halifax County in 1994, Stella
Maris Church has drawn the
interest and concern of the
Association and of a wide
number of Herring Cove and
Purcell’s Cove residents. A
large crowd attended the meet-
ing. The church has also
caught the attention of the
Trust’s Religious Buildings
Committee. Watch for an
update in the next Griffin.
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degrees.
Still in search of funding,

O’Brien launched suits against the
Power estate, but was unsuccess-
ful, so in 1903, he used money of
his own to re-open St. Mary’s on a
new site on Windsor Street. This
again was a collegiate school, not
a university. O’Brien died in 1906,
and his successor, Archbishop
McCarthy, was successful in per-
suading some Christian Brothers
from Newfoundland to come to
the college. Finally, the trustees of
the Power estate were willing to

turn over the money that St.
Mary’s had been waiting for. But
its troubles were not over. By the
early 1930s the college was deeply
in debt, which the Christian
Brothers were unable to pay.
When John McNally became arch-
bishop he dismissed the brothers
and brought in Jesuits in their
place. By 1949, plans were under
way to move St. Mary’s to its
present location on the
Gorsebrook estate. This of course
involved fund-raising, and an ini-
tial $25,000 was donated by
Norman Stanbury. Peter described
the sleight of hand with which

Halifax’s Memorial Tower: Its Design and Construction
(Part II) by Brian Cuthbertson

The March 1910 issue of the jour-
nal Construction contained a fea-
ture article entitled “Competition
for Design for Memorial Tower”
calling on Canadian architects and
draftsmen to submit competitive
designs for a “National Memorial
Tower to Commemorate the
Establishment of Self Government
in Canada - A Great Patriotic
Work.” The article laid out the
conditions of competition. The
August 1910 issue of Construction
consisted of an introductory page
listing the three judges of the
competition. Reproduced was the
letter of the Institute announcing
the three winners of the twelve
submissions: the gold medal for
1st prize went to A. Sharp of
Toronto; the silver medal for 2nd
prize to W.M. Brown of Halifax;
and the bronze medal for 3rd
prize to John Lyle of Toronto. The
committee could not, however,
refrain from “expressing the opin-
ion that the result of the competi-
tion as exhibited by the above
designs is very disappointing.”
With the exception of the design it
had placed first, “none of them
seem to have succeeded in arriv-
ing at such a solution of the prob-
lem as comes anywhere near the
idea that the promoters evidently
had in mind.” The second design

St. Mary’s: Continued from page 12

March 2010

the committee considered on the
whole “excellent,” but was “after
all merely an Italian Campanile—
a foreign style that has nothing
whatever to do with this country.”
As to the design that placed third
the committee felt it “lacks inter-
est and fails in expressing its pur-
pose.” Even for the winning
design, the committee were of the

McNally borrowed the additional
money for the construction of the
new building. He produced for
the bank a letter from Rome
apparently giving permission for
the loan, while concealing the sec-
ond page which stated that he
should first seek further approval
from a different committee. The
archdiocese remained under a
papal interdict for some time as a
result. But the new building was
finished in 1952, and St. Mary’s at
last began to take the form in
which we know it today. JD

Left, the gold medal winning design
from A. Sharp of Toronto, and below,
in the first panel, the silver medal
winner from W.M. Brown of Halifax.
The second panel, shows the comple-
mentary elevation and sectional view

Continued overleaf
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ILLUSTRATED PUBLIC LECTURES

WINTER-SPRING 2010

Maurice LeBlanc–March 18
Acadian Painting in Acadie

Garry Shutlak–April 15
David Stirling’s Houses

Marilyn Gurney–June 17
The King’s Yard

Meetings normally begin at 7:30 pm in the Auditorium,
Museum of Natural History, Summer Street and Bell Road, Halifax.

The June 17 AGM begins at 7 pm.

siding don’t allow much flexibility
or row planning. Installers must
start at the bottom and let the
rows fall where they may.
However, there is still a large
demand for traditional clapboards
and shingles. And of course, there
will always be a demand for car-
penters who take pride in
installing these sidings properly.

Bruce MacNab is a Red Seal
Journeyman carpenter who has
taught apprenticeship at NSCC. He
may be reached at carpentryher-
itage@gmail.com.

Shingles: Continued from page 9

A Struggle to Open, a Struggle to Survive: St. Mary’s
College (1802-1952)
As the title of Peter McGuigan’s
February talk in the Trust’s lecture
series suggests, the establishment
of what is now St. Mary’s
University was no easy matter. A
well-known local author, Peter
did his MA at St. Mary’s and is
writing a book on its history. His
talk dealt with the long struggle
of successive Roman Catholic
bishops of Halifax to provide edu-
cation of the Catholic youth of the
city from the early days of the
19th century.

Bishop Edmund Burke came to
Halifax from Ontario in 1801. He
was responsible for the construc-
tion of a glebe house and a cathe-
dral at the corner of Spring
Garden Road and Barrington
Street, and also for the establish-
ment of the original St. Mary’s
Boys’ School on Grafton Street.
This was the beginning of
Catholic education in Halifax.
Burke’s attempts to persuade the
Jesuits or the Benedictines to send
teachers to Halifax were unsuc-
cessful, and he had to depend on
the help of seminarians who were
completing their training in
Halifax. Nevertheless, both the
boys’ school and one for girls
were opened, and it is from them

that St. Mary’s University claims
to trace its origins. Bishop Burke
died in 1820, and his cathedral
was completed only after his
death.

The original schools did not
offer education beyond Grade VI,
and the sons of well-to-do
Catholics had to look further
afield for their education.
Laurence O’Connor Doyle was
sent by his Halifax family to
Stonyhurst, an English Roman
Catholic public school, and later
attended London University. On
returning to Halifax, he strongly
promoted education and worked
to get priests for a seminary here.

Meanwhile, Richard Baptist
O’Brien established St. Mary’s
College in 1839, offering higher
education and training for the
priesthood, but after he returned
to Ireland six years later the
school foundered. It reappeared
20 years later as Belle Air College,
on the corner of Agricola and
North Streets. It had an extensive
campus with playing fields and a
library. Students from the South

End travelled by horse railway
from Freshwater (the corner of
Inglis and Barrington Streets) to
the foot of North Street. The clos-
ing of the tramway and the depar-
ture of the Christian Brothers
doomed the college in 1876. A
fresh start was made under
Bishop Power at “College Hall”,
in downtown Halifax, but times
were hard as the province with-
drew funding for higher educa-
tion in 1880. Bishop Power, who
had helped to fund the college,
died in 1883 and was succeeded
by Bishop O’Brien, who in his
turn tried unsuccessfully to per-
suade the Jesuits to provide teach-
ers. Again in 1889 he tried and
failed to get Jesuits or
Benedictines to staff the college;
there was little support from the
local parishioners, and the money
that was expected from Bishop
Power’s estate was withheld. At
this time a small private high
school for Catholic boys, known
as LaSalle College, provided a
basic education, but did not grant
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Stretching Shingles: Cheating is acceptable
when installing shingles and clapboard by Bruce MacNab

Wooden shingles and clapboard
once clad almost every house and
church in Nova Scotia. On most
heritage buildings in Nova Scotia,
wooden sidings were installed
with an exposure of four to six
inches. The term “exposure”
refers to the part of the siding or
shingle that would be painted.
Most carpenters will simply tell
you they’re installing shingles,
“four inches to-the-weather.”

Have a close look at almost
any older home that still has its
original wooden siding. You will
notice something interesting at the
windows. See how the rows of
siding perfectly match the tops
and bottoms of windows? (See
photo 1) This is not a happy acci-
dent. Carpenters cheated the rows

to make them work properly with
the windows.

Carefully planning rows, also
known as courses, is something
that bricklayers have to do on
every job. Masons must adjust the
thickness of mortar to make sure
their rows arrive properly at win-
dows and the tops of walls. No
bricklayer wants to cut bricks hor-
izontally. This task is difficult,
time consuming and makes a job
look sloppy. Rather than guess at

Photo 1: The rows of shingles match
perfectly with the top and bottom of
this window. Location – Zoé Vallé
Library, Chester, N.S. (Photo Bruce

the thickness of mortar, bricklay-
ers use special measuring tapes
that help them calculate and lay
out their courses. Carpenters
don’t have fancy measuring tapes
like those lucky bricklayers.
Instead, they have to make their
own calculations for each siding
installation.

A blueprint that indicates sid-
ing is to be installed at a four inch
exposure is really just a sugges-
tion. The scheduled exposure can
be increased or reduced by up to a
quarter of an inch without being
noticed. For example, a window
that is 34 inches from top to bot-
tom doesn’t work well with a four
inch exposure. This would result
in eight rows at four inches with
two inches left over. The solution
is to “stretch” these eight rows to
eliminate the two inch remainder.
Mathematically it sets up this sim-
ple equation: 34 inches divided by
8 rows = 4 ¼ inches. A clever car-
penter can do the above calcula-
tion and layout without the use of
a calculator or measuring tape by
using a set of compass dividers.

Before wood sidings are
installed, the location of every
horizontal row is determined.
This is an important task but not
necessarily a difficult one. The

Photo 2: This custom storey pole was used to mark the locations of shingle rows on
this renovated carriage house. (Photo Bruce MacNab.)

rows are located on a piece of
wooden strapping (narrow board)
called a storey pole. (See photo 2)
Ideally, the storey pole will reach
from the first row to the very last
row of siding. Obviously, with
very tall structures several storey
poles are required to reach the top.

Carpenters first mark the tops
and bottoms of windows and
doors on the storey pole. Next, the
in-between rows (field) are calcu-
lated and drawn on the storey
pole. Generally, the layout of sid-
ing is done to make the front of
the house look the best. Rows of
siding are the same height on all
sides of structures. This can cause
the layout to work well on the
front of a building but not the
sides and rear of the structure.
Hopefully, most window tops are
at the same height so a row of sid-
ing will pass over the tops neatly.
On well planned jobs, exterior
window trim is adjusted to work
well with siding rows. The storey
pole is then used to transfer the
location of rows at each corner,
window and door. To avoid mis-
takes, the word “top” is clearly
marked at the top of the storey
pole.

Modern products like vinyl
Continued on page 12

MacNab.)
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HERITAGE TRUST OF NOVA SCOTIA

ILLUSTRATED PUBLIC LECTURES

WINTER-SPRING 2010

Maurice LeBlanc–March 18
Acadian Painting in Acadie

Garry Shutlak–April 15
David Stirling’s Houses

Marilyn Gurney–June 17
The King’s Yard

Meetings normally begin at 7:30 pm in the Auditorium,
Museum of Natural History, Summer Street and Bell Road, Halifax.

The June 17 AGM begins at 7 pm.

siding don’t allow much flexibility
or row planning. Installers must
start at the bottom and let the
rows fall where they may.
However, there is still a large
demand for traditional clapboards
and shingles. And of course, there
will always be a demand for car-
penters who take pride in
installing these sidings properly.

Bruce MacNab is a Red Seal
Journeyman carpenter who has
taught apprenticeship at NSCC. He
may be reached at carpentryher-
itage@gmail.com.

Shingles: Continued from page 9

A Struggle to Open, a Struggle to Survive: St. Mary’s
College (1802-1952)
As the title of Peter McGuigan’s
February talk in the Trust’s lecture
series suggests, the establishment
of what is now St. Mary’s
University was no easy matter. A
well-known local author, Peter
did his MA at St. Mary’s and is
writing a book on its history. His
talk dealt with the long struggle
of successive Roman Catholic
bishops of Halifax to provide edu-
cation of the Catholic youth of the
city from the early days of the
19th century.

Bishop Edmund Burke came to
Halifax from Ontario in 1801. He
was responsible for the construc-
tion of a glebe house and a cathe-
dral at the corner of Spring
Garden Road and Barrington
Street, and also for the establish-
ment of the original St. Mary’s
Boys’ School on Grafton Street.
This was the beginning of
Catholic education in Halifax.
Burke’s attempts to persuade the
Jesuits or the Benedictines to send
teachers to Halifax were unsuc-
cessful, and he had to depend on
the help of seminarians who were
completing their training in
Halifax. Nevertheless, both the
boys’ school and one for girls
were opened, and it is from them

that St. Mary’s University claims
to trace its origins. Bishop Burke
died in 1820, and his cathedral
was completed only after his
death.

The original schools did not
offer education beyond Grade VI,
and the sons of well-to-do
Catholics had to look further
afield for their education.
Laurence O’Connor Doyle was
sent by his Halifax family to
Stonyhurst, an English Roman
Catholic public school, and later
attended London University. On
returning to Halifax, he strongly
promoted education and worked
to get priests for a seminary here.

Meanwhile, Richard Baptist
O’Brien established St. Mary’s
College in 1839, offering higher
education and training for the
priesthood, but after he returned
to Ireland six years later the
school foundered. It reappeared
20 years later as Belle Air College,
on the corner of Agricola and
North Streets. It had an extensive
campus with playing fields and a
library. Students from the South

End travelled by horse railway
from Freshwater (the corner of
Inglis and Barrington Streets) to
the foot of North Street. The clos-
ing of the tramway and the depar-
ture of the Christian Brothers
doomed the college in 1876. A
fresh start was made under
Bishop Power at “College Hall”,
in downtown Halifax, but times
were hard as the province with-
drew funding for higher educa-
tion in 1880. Bishop Power, who
had helped to fund the college,
died in 1883 and was succeeded
by Bishop O’Brien, who in his
turn tried unsuccessfully to per-
suade the Jesuits to provide teach-
ers. Again in 1889 he tried and
failed to get Jesuits or
Benedictines to staff the college;
there was little support from the
local parishioners, and the money
that was expected from Bishop
Power’s estate was withheld. At
this time a small private high
school for Catholic boys, known
as LaSalle College, provided a
basic education, but did not grant
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Stretching Shingles: Cheating is acceptable
when installing shingles and clapboard by Bruce MacNab

Wooden shingles and clapboard
once clad almost every house and
church in Nova Scotia. On most
heritage buildings in Nova Scotia,
wooden sidings were installed
with an exposure of four to six
inches. The term “exposure”
refers to the part of the siding or
shingle that would be painted.
Most carpenters will simply tell
you they’re installing shingles,
“four inches to-the-weather.”

Have a close look at almost
any older home that still has its
original wooden siding. You will
notice something interesting at the
windows. See how the rows of
siding perfectly match the tops
and bottoms of windows? (See
photo 1) This is not a happy acci-
dent. Carpenters cheated the rows

to make them work properly with
the windows.

Carefully planning rows, also
known as courses, is something
that bricklayers have to do on
every job. Masons must adjust the
thickness of mortar to make sure
their rows arrive properly at win-
dows and the tops of walls. No
bricklayer wants to cut bricks hor-
izontally. This task is difficult,
time consuming and makes a job
look sloppy. Rather than guess at

Photo 1: The rows of shingles match
perfectly with the top and bottom of
this window. Location – Zoé Vallé
Library, Chester, N.S. (Photo Bruce

the thickness of mortar, bricklay-
ers use special measuring tapes
that help them calculate and lay
out their courses. Carpenters
don’t have fancy measuring tapes
like those lucky bricklayers.
Instead, they have to make their
own calculations for each siding
installation.

A blueprint that indicates sid-
ing is to be installed at a four inch
exposure is really just a sugges-
tion. The scheduled exposure can
be increased or reduced by up to a
quarter of an inch without being
noticed. For example, a window
that is 34 inches from top to bot-
tom doesn’t work well with a four
inch exposure. This would result
in eight rows at four inches with
two inches left over. The solution
is to “stretch” these eight rows to
eliminate the two inch remainder.
Mathematically it sets up this sim-
ple equation: 34 inches divided by
8 rows = 4 ¼ inches. A clever car-
penter can do the above calcula-
tion and layout without the use of
a calculator or measuring tape by
using a set of compass dividers.

Before wood sidings are
installed, the location of every
horizontal row is determined.
This is an important task but not
necessarily a difficult one. The

Photo 2: This custom storey pole was used to mark the locations of shingle rows on
this renovated carriage house. (Photo Bruce MacNab.)

rows are located on a piece of
wooden strapping (narrow board)
called a storey pole. (See photo 2)
Ideally, the storey pole will reach
from the first row to the very last
row of siding. Obviously, with
very tall structures several storey
poles are required to reach the top.

Carpenters first mark the tops
and bottoms of windows and
doors on the storey pole. Next, the
in-between rows (field) are calcu-
lated and drawn on the storey
pole. Generally, the layout of sid-
ing is done to make the front of
the house look the best. Rows of
siding are the same height on all
sides of structures. This can cause
the layout to work well on the
front of a building but not the
sides and rear of the structure.
Hopefully, most window tops are
at the same height so a row of sid-
ing will pass over the tops neatly.
On well planned jobs, exterior
window trim is adjusted to work
well with siding rows. The storey
pole is then used to transfer the
location of rows at each corner,
window and door. To avoid mis-
takes, the word “top” is clearly
marked at the top of the storey
pole.

Modern products like vinyl
Continued on page 12

MacNab.)
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degrees.
Still in search of funding,

O’Brien launched suits against the
Power estate, but was unsuccess-
ful, so in 1903, he used money of
his own to re-open St. Mary’s on a
new site on Windsor Street. This
again was a collegiate school, not
a university. O’Brien died in 1906,
and his successor, Archbishop
McCarthy, was successful in per-
suading some Christian Brothers
from Newfoundland to come to
the college. Finally, the trustees of
the Power estate were willing to

turn over the money that St.
Mary’s had been waiting for. But
its troubles were not over. By the
early 1930s the college was deeply
in debt, which the Christian
Brothers were unable to pay.
When John McNally became arch-
bishop he dismissed the brothers
and brought in Jesuits in their
place. By 1949, plans were under
way to move St. Mary’s to its
present location on the
Gorsebrook estate. This of course
involved fund-raising, and an ini-
tial $25,000 was donated by
Norman Stanbury. Peter described
the sleight of hand with which

Halifax’s Memorial Tower: Its Design and Construction
(Part II) by Brian Cuthbertson

The March 1910 issue of the jour-
nal Construction contained a fea-
ture article entitled “Competition
for Design for Memorial Tower”
calling on Canadian architects and
draftsmen to submit competitive
designs for a “National Memorial
Tower to Commemorate the
Establishment of Self Government
in Canada - A Great Patriotic
Work.” The article laid out the
conditions of competition. The
August 1910 issue of Construction
consisted of an introductory page
listing the three judges of the
competition. Reproduced was the
letter of the Institute announcing
the three winners of the twelve
submissions: the gold medal for
1st prize went to A. Sharp of
Toronto; the silver medal for 2nd
prize to W.M. Brown of Halifax;
and the bronze medal for 3rd
prize to John Lyle of Toronto. The
committee could not, however,
refrain from “expressing the opin-
ion that the result of the competi-
tion as exhibited by the above
designs is very disappointing.”
With the exception of the design it
had placed first, “none of them
seem to have succeeded in arriv-
ing at such a solution of the prob-
lem as comes anywhere near the
idea that the promoters evidently
had in mind.” The second design

St. Mary’s: Continued from page 12
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the committee considered on the
whole “excellent,” but was “after
all merely an Italian Campanile—
a foreign style that has nothing
whatever to do with this country.”
As to the design that placed third
the committee felt it “lacks inter-
est and fails in expressing its pur-
pose.” Even for the winning
design, the committee were of the

McNally borrowed the additional
money for the construction of the
new building. He produced for
the bank a letter from Rome
apparently giving permission for
the loan, while concealing the sec-
ond page which stated that he
should first seek further approval
from a different committee. The
archdiocese remained under a
papal interdict for some time as a
result. But the new building was
finished in 1952, and St. Mary’s at
last began to take the form in
which we know it today. JD

Left, the gold medal winning design
from A. Sharp of Toronto, and below,
in the first panel, the silver medal
winner from W.M. Brown of Halifax.
The second panel, shows the comple-
mentary elevation and sectional view

Continued overleaf
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The following excerpt, written in
response to the debate about whether
or not to allow the demolition of a
Lunenburg outbuilding, speaks
equally well to heritage issues else-
where.

[…] Most of us care about heritage
in Mahone Bay and Lunenburg,
otherwise we probably wouldn’t
choose to live in this part of the
South Shore. With almost every
fire occurring in an old wooden
building, [fire] often [ensures] that
these wonderful structures, from
grand to modest, slowly disap-
pear along with the history
observed within. And you can
guarantee that for every one of
these we lose, there are ten if not a
hundred, of the new, factory-built
structures coming on a flatbed
trailer down the road in this direc-
tion.

I think some people…are miss-
ing two subtle but important
points. First, the “UNESCO” des-
ignation Lunenburg would hope
to keep and steadfastly preserve
includes not only historic homes,
but that (almost intangible) fasci-
nating saw-toothed pattern
of higgledy-piggledy modest
buildings that also comprised life
before the perfectly neat, militari-
ly straight rows of suburban sub-
division boxes. That irregularity
of structures, like old Quebec City
(another UNESCO Heritage Site),
separates itself from the pre-
dictable grid pattern of Toronto
and New York City.

It is too convenient to consider
one part of Cumberland (in the
area of the outbuilding in ques-
tion) “just a back lane”. Only a
short distance down the street is
the main entrance to the
Boscawen Inn; an historic house
(built by the Morash family) is
just to the east of this building;
and right across [the “lane”] are
several homes fronting on the
street and facing the two “out”
buildings mentioned. It is an easy
mistake to lump all buildings not
currently used as homes into a

single category of worthless “out”
buildings - including the privy or
workshop, the well designed and
built business structure, and the
hastily built, flimsy, ugly utility
shed.

This particular edifice housed
people, religious and fraternal
meetings along with several retail
businesses. It witnessed lives
being lived, tales of sorrow and
joy being shared with neighbours,
townsfolk spending some time
with each other and slowly
becoming part, even modestly, of
Lunenburg’s colourful history.
This is a living, breathing history
that is just as much a part of
Lunenburg’s important fabric as
the “grand” homes standing
proudly on the streetscape.

Because this building was
allowed to deteriorate (as several
other important homes presently
are) is no fault…of the current
owners who bought it fairly
recently. But we are all caretakers

of our town’s historic structures,
modest to grand, homely to beau-
tiful; we should not buy a proper-
ty unless we are dedicated to pre-
serving any and all old structures
(pre-1940 as defined) located
thereon. To repair and restore this
building is no more Disney-like or
fake, than building Bluenose II to
preserve its history, not to men-
tion the ship building trades that
continue and get handed down
generation to generation. And
who today would be prepared to
see the Bluenose sail away never
to return, no more to teach young
people how things were done and
lives lived yesterday, or to present
one less reason for strangers from
around the world, to visit
Lunenburg?

164 Cumberland today may
not be “architecturally stunning,”
but could be taken back (like the
handsome former cobbler shop
around the corner) with original
windows reproduced, ugly shed
dormers removed and interior
structural systems twinned or
rebuilt. Lunenburg has a duty to
see this happens on the site where
it has lived (not “rotted”) and if
[that is] not possible, then second-
arily to move and rebuild it to
give it continued life within the
Town.

Secondly, Lunenburgers, like
folks from every town, outport or
city the world over, should be
comfortable debating and dis-
agreeing with one another.…This
debate should be healthy,
thoughtful and never, ever per-
sonal. Ideas help us to grow; lay-
ering ideas point us to solutions
we may never have even dreamed
before, rising not just to, but
beyond any challenge. History
should have taught us all of
that...... unless we choose to turn
our backs on its lessons and val-
ues.

Paul and his wife Kathy have just
finished rehabilitating a 1760-70 cape
on a hill just outside Lunenburg in
First South.

What Future
for Stella Maris
Church?
The Ferguson’s Cove
Neighbourhood Association
hosted a ‘Public Conversation’
on January 21, 2010 to elicit
ideas for the future of this
mid-1800s church, situated at
the northeast corner of York
Redoubt. Designated a
municipal heritage building by
Halifax County in 1994, Stella
Maris Church has drawn the
interest and concern of the
Association and of a wide
number of Herring Cove and
Purcell’s Cove residents. A
large crowd attended the meet-
ing. The church has also
caught the attention of the
Trust’s Religious Buildings
Committee. Watch for an
update in the next Griffin.
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Heritage for Sale – Award-winning church conversion
near Annapolis Royal
150 Old Trunk 8, Lequille
MLS®: 05107743 $289,900
Tradewinds Realty -
Annapolis Royal
Paula Leslie: 902-526-2462,
902-532-2010 (fax)
www.movetonovascotia.net/Lequille/
Nova_Scotia/Homes/05107743/Lequil
le/Agent/Listing_7813026.html

The former St. Alban’s Anglican
Church, a Registered Heritage
Property and 2007 Heritage Trust
Award winner, has been profes-
sionally rehabilitated and re-mod-
elled to create the best combina-
tion of old charm and modern
living. Tucked in among the trees
on a quiet road is a surprisingly
spacious home that is warm and
welcoming with rich original
woodwork and windows, a soar-
ing vaulted ceiling, skylights and
an ingenious use of space. The
owner/designer has paid special
attention to detail when choosing
the high quality fixtures and
materials that enhance the charac-
ter of the 1892 church. A luxuri-
ously appointed kitchen and
bathroom, and a master bedroom
loft with ensuite are just some of
the unexpected perks that will
surprise and delight you about
this beautiful home. Wired for
generator. High speed internet
available.

Top, the kitchen looks to the
living room; middle, the
master bedroom situated in
the loft with a view of the
vaulted ceiling; and below
the exterior of the former
St. Alban’s Anglican
Church.

cation, the Griffin, or an electronic
version. The savings realized from
‘going green’ would enable us to
provide a more interactive,
searchable format for the Griffin.

Members are invited to contact
me at any time (902-826-2087 or
pdelefes@eastlink.ca) to discuss
heritage matters.

Peter Delefes,
President

President: Continued from page 8
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Planter Nova Scotia Celebrates in 2010: Its 250th
Anniversary by Julian Gwyn

This year marks the 250th
anniversary of the beginning of
the New England exodus to Nova
Scotia. Known now as the Planters
- a word for settler, first used for
the sixteenth-century English
plantations in Ireland - they estab-
lished fourteen townships in
Nova Scotia, which then included
what later became New
Brunswick. Coming principally
from eastern Connecticut, south-
ern Rhode Island and eastern
Massachusetts, they settled both
on Nova Scotia’s south shore, up
the St John River valley, the
Chignecto peninsula, the
Annapolis Valley and Minas
Basin. Fishermen settled in places
like Chester, Liverpool, Barrington
and Yarmouth, while farmers set-
tled the Acadian lands elsewhere.
About 2,000 families were
involved. Land scarcity was the
principal cause, free land the
attraction, while the defeat of
French power in North America,
achieved in 1758/60, explains the
timing.

To help mark the celebrations,
the Kings-Hants Heritage
Connection commissioned the
research and writing of four short
books, one each for the townships
of Newport, Falmouth, Horton
and Cornwallis. For reasons best
known to themselves, municipal
leaders in Windsor chose not to
participate in this imaginative
undertaking. Based on new
research employing documents
long in the possession especially
of Nova Scotia’s provincial
archives and the Acadia
University archives, the books
emphasize the social, economic,
religious and political history of
the region to 1815.

In addition, as part of the year-
long celebrations, Planter Studies
Centre at Acadia University will
be holding a major conference in
mid-June. The Chairman of the
conference planning committee
may be contacted by e-mail:

stephen.henderson@acadiau.ca .
In an act of econocide, those

responsible for deporting the
Acadians set fire to the houses,
barns and fences, except for some
in Falmouth Township. Acadian
livestock was sold to naval and
military contractors and slaugh-
tered. These decisions retarded
Nova Scotia’s economy develop-
ment by at least a generation, the
equivalent of suffering a devastat-
ing war. The New England
Planters spent much of their first
year in Nova Scotia building
anew, while their imported live-
stock survived largely on marsh-
land hay.

Since The Griffin readers are
principally interested in built-her-
itage, something should be said of
the ordinary Planter dwellings.
Their houses were first described
in a 1774 booklet written by two
visiting Yorkshiremen. Described
as square-built with brick
chimneys in the centre, they had
several sashed windows. The lay-
out of their houses was simple,
usually two rooms on the ground
floor, one for cooking and eating,
the second used as a sleeping
chamber. The loft, reached by a
ladder or narrow staircase, was
also used for sleeping. Houses
seemed always to contain a cellar.

The smallness of these typical
original houses should not sur-
prise us. It approximated the size
of houses many families had occu-
pied in New England, where one-
storey structures under 600 square
feet were the most common. The
houses, unless they were log-built,
were finished on the outside with
clapboard or shingles, the roofs
being planked before being shin-
gled. Inside, the rooms were
wainscotted.

The simplicity of the houses,
some at first hardly more than
shacks, and the sparse furnishings
they contained, was typical for all

Planter families except those of
the élite. Sadly, not a single,
undisputed example of such sim-
ple dwellings has survived two
hundred and fifty years later. As
to the furnishings, examples from
houses of the élite 6 families alone
survive.

Joseph Howe’s newspaper, the
Novascotian, reported in 1827 the
remarks of a traveller who recent-
ly had toured through the agricul-
tural districts. He claimed never
to have seen “any peasantry who
paid so little attention to the neat-
ness and appearance of their
houses. Of the models he does
not complain so much, as of the
black and filthy hues in which
they are allowed to wither. True, a
well-painted cottage, fronted by a
flower garden or shrubbery, and
seen through a vista of umbra-
geous trees, occasionally gladdens
the sight. But it is an exception,
which stands broadly marked.”
Rather, “the ash-heap lies under
the very window— a tiny pond,
in which the ducks can waddle
and gutter makes dirty stepping
to the door. Old hats and coats
occupy a conspicuous place in the
sashes, and the walls and roof are
to the picturesque eye an object of
perfect disgust.” The traveller
contrasted this with the well
maintained appearance of the
houses of the habitants in Quebec,
the peasantry along the Erie canal
from Albany to Buffalo, in rural
England and along the Rhone val-
ley in southern France. However
unflattering the impression, the
unpainted and weathered houses
bespoke rural poverty which was
widespread. At the same time,
Moorsom reported that the
Acadians on the French shore
painted their cottages red while
Loyalist refugees generally pre-
ferred white.

Julian Gwyn, Historian, Retired
(U. of Ottawa) has moved to Berwick,
Nova Scotia..
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and industry do not always form
a perfect marriage; the Kelly
Building did blow down the day
before Nocturne, giving cause for
panic and a hasty re-resurrection.

To describe the destruction of
the Kelly Building as a terrible
loss does not overstate the case.
Philip Pacey, while President of
the Heritage Trust of Nova Scotia,
observed that the building “repre-
sented an important juncture in
Nova Scotia, when commercial
buildings changed from resem-
bling houses to looking like retail
stores.” It was among the first 150
buildings recommended for
Heritage registration in Halifax
and stood proudly as one of the
last remaining examples of the
adjoining shop and residence in
the downtown.

Shortly before demolition the
Kelly Building enjoyed a brief
new-life experience. It was inter-
est from Charley Young’s and
Sarah Haydon Roy’s alma mater,
NSCAD University, that offered
what would turn out to be a last
glimmer of hope. The Presidents
of NSCAD and Heritage Trust
worked diligently on an unsuc-
cessful proposal to rehabilitate the
Kelly and Macara-Barnstead
Buildings for student housing.
The rest is history. Charley Young,
in the project proposal for
Nocturne, described the Kelly
Building’s absence now “noted by
roofline residue on the former
adjoining Macara Building and
unfinished walls that are

encroached bon y a modern
characterless office tower.”

If the proverbial picture is
worth a thousand words then
surely it can be said that a suc-
cessful artwork speaks volumes.
Resurrection: The Kelly Building
was a very successful installation
artwork, not a simple snapshot of
what was or a token remembrance
of loss. For six hours Haligonians
were provided a means of seeing
through, walking through and
feeling the spirit of a missing cul-
tural marker. We were given a
rare opportunity to engage the

heritage issue outside the usual
venue of acrimonious debate. It is
sad that the subject matter of this
historic tableau is privation but
nonetheless, a message has been
delivered in an unusual, innova-
tive and strong voice: look at what
we’ve lost!

Wallace Brannen is an art appraiser
and consultant who writes about art
and related issues. He is an HTNS
member who recently retired from the
Board.

Top left, the Nocturne invitation; top right, the man lift installing the Kelly Building
drape; and directly above, the building re-created in fabric for Nocturne. (All photos
on this page, Charley Young.)
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Mainland South Heritage
Society
Capt. William Spry Library
Sat., Apr. 24, 1-4 pm: Genealogy Open
House. Local researchers will guide
you in your quest to learn more about
your ancestors through online and
library resources.
Iris Shea, 479-3505 or
ishea@eastlink.ca .

NS Archaeology Society
Fourth Tuesday of month, NS
Museum at 7:30 pm.
March 23: Charles Burke, “Fort
Lawrence and Beaubassin National
Historic Sites.”
April 27: Helen Kristmanson , Dir.
Aboriginal Affairs and Archaeology,
PEI, TBA.
May 25: Katie Cottreau-Robbins and
Rob Ferguson, “Cultural Landscape of
Grand-Pré.”

NS Built Heritage
Conference, Annapolis
Royal
June 3- 4, 9:30-5 pm, Roy. Cdn.
Legion, 66 Victoria St. Speakers
include historians, government and
private heritage workers. Registration
open to the public.
June 2, 9:30 pm: Graveyard tour by
candlelight, $5 for registrants.
June 4, 7-9 pm: Wine and Azaleas,
tour the Historic Gardens with music,
wine and nibbles, $20 pre-booked, $15
for registrants, $25 at the gate. Call
532-7018 to reserve.
Info Ryan Scranton,
historic@ns.aliantzinc.ca

Planter Conference 250th
Anniversary, Wolfville
June 17, 7 pm: Esther Clark Wright
keynote address by Gwen Davies,
Prof. Emeritus, UNB
June 18-19, 9:30-4:30 pm: papers
Sun., June 20, 10-2 pm: tours in the
Wolfville-Grand Pré area.
http://libguides.acadiau.ca/Planter/

Rockingham Heritage
Society
April 14, 7:30 pm: Wayne Ingalls,

“The Railway Comes to
Rockingham”. St. Peter’s Anglican
Church, Birch Cove.

Royal NS Historical
Society
Mar. 17: Emily Burton, “Rum and
Regulation in Nova Scotia, 1780-
1830.”
Apr. 21: Bonnie Huskins, “Shelburne
Loyalists” (annual dinner meeting).
May 19: TBA
All talks begin at 7:30 pm at the
Public Archives of Nova Scotia, with
the exception of the April dinner
meeting, the location of which is
TBA.

Village historique acadien
First Wednes. of month, 7:30-9:30 pm:
Soirée de Musique / Kitchen Party,
Sylvesters Club, Centre de Pombcoup,
W. Pubnico. Music by local artists
with singsong of Acadian Songs. Tea,
coffee or juice, $5. For information
contact 902-762-3380
March 17, 7 pm: “Our history in
stories,” stories written by Laurent
d’Entremont and others, Musée des
Acadiens, W. Pubnico, $3.
March 18, 1:30-3 pm: Francophonie.
Days, Musée des Acadiens, W.
Pubnico. Craft demonstration and
sale.
Apr. 22, 10-3 pm: Celebrate Earth
Day, Musée des Acadiens, W.
Pubnico. Guest speaker, info., photos
and gardening in the Acadian Garden.
Tea & coffee.
musee.acadien@ns.sympatico.ca,

www.museeacadien.ca, 762-3380.

Wolfville Historical
Society
Wolfville Fire Hall
March 17, 2 pm: Charles Curry and
Robert Palmeter, “Caring for the
Grand Pré Dykes and Dykelands.”
May 19, 2 pm: Dr. A.J.B. Johnston,
“Endgame 1758, Louisbourg’s Last
Decade.”
http://wolfvillehs.ednet.ns.ca.

Programs Sponsored by Other Societies

L’Acadie de Chezzetcook
79 Hill Rd., W. Chezzetcook
April 18, noon: Spring Event, home
cooked meal, bake table, games, out-
door oven in operation, refreshed dis-
plays at museum.

Cape Sable Historical
Society
June 5: “Planters Tea” and fashion
show, Barrington Lions Hall. Tickets
from Society members or from barmu-
seumcomplex@eastlink.ca and 637-2185.

Cole Harbour Rural
Heritage Society
471 Poplar Drive, Dartmouth
Sat., April 17, 5:30 for 6:30 pm: 5th
Annual Dinner & Auction,
Brightwood Golf Club, $40 in
advance.
Sun. May 9, 1-4 pm: Mother’s Day
Tea, Adult $8, Child $5, no reserva-
tions.
coleharbourfarmmuseum.ca, 434-0222

Industrial Heritage of NS
Meets first Mon. of month at
Maritime Museum at 7:30 pm.
March 1: Joan Dawson.,”19th century
Roads”. Author of Nova Scotia’s Lost
Highways; the early roads that shaped the
Province, Joan will focus on the social
developments of roads and communi-
ties in the early part of the 19th
century.
April 5: Carl Yates, General Manager
of Halifax Water Commission,
“Development of the Halifax Water
Supply.”
May 3: Debra McNabb, Head of the
Museum of Industry in Stellarton,
“The Museum of Industry at 15:
Reflections on Nova Scotia’s provin-
cial industrial museum.”

erratum
The credits for the photos of
Avenue B were inadvertently
reversed in the
article on Imperoyal Village,
p.26-27, Vol. 34, No. 4.


